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House refurbishment
in mid-eighteenth-century Dublin

BRENDAN TWOMEY

Bolton, Archbishop of Cashel, received a one-page memorandum headed ‘Tradesmen’s

Bills for Work done at the House in Queen Street Tenanted by Sir Robt. Echlin’.! The
document concluded: ‘Madam I have read over the above files & do believe they are
right, they amount in all to £109: 16: 7% which ought to be paid to Mr Mathews to be by
him applied to Discharge the Sevl. Tradesmen.’?> The preparation of these ‘files’ repre-
sented the penultimate stage of a project to carry out an extensive set of repairs to Bolton’s
house on Queen Street in the Smithfield area of Dublin. The final step took place some
three months later when Edward Mathews duly ‘applied’ the payments to the tradesmen.
While the works had taken place the previous July and August, the negotiations between
the then property owner, Archbishop Bolton, and his putative tenant Sir Robert Echlin
had started at least as far back as 1741 (Plate 1). This article is based on an archive of
twelve documents that represent the surviving papers for these works. They contain details
of pre-letting correspondence, an estimate of costs, a summary of the final costs, and nine
of the ten tradesmen’s bills. The archive is however incomplete as it does not include the
final tenancy agreement, contractual documentation, technical specifications or drawings
that might have been generated over the course of the works.

This article seeks to bridge the gap between studies that have focused on the ar-
chitecture and construction of grand or prestigious buildings and those typical Dublin
town houses that featured widely across the city. It also contributes to a more nuanced
understanding of house typologies in eighteenth-century towns and cities, drawing on re-
cent scholarship that has examined these houses in terms of patterns of occupancy, use
of internal spaces, and their design, finance, construction and maintenance.’ The first part
of this article discusses the understudied (or, as William Baer has put it, the ‘largely ig-
nored’) topic of the eighteenth-century urban landlord-tenant relationship.* The second
part reviews each of the documents in the Bolton/Echlin papers and relates their contents
to contemporary building and business practices.

l N MARCH 1747, MRS ANN BOLTON, WIDOW OF THE RECENTLY DECEASED THEOPHILUS

1 — Copy of letter from the Archbishop of Cashel to his agent, Henry Osborne, in April 1741,
outlining the conditions for the house rental
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N THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY, MOST URBAN DWELLERS OF ALL CLASSES WERE TENANTS,

lessees, lodgers or renters.” The duration of these rental or tenancy agreements or

leases could vary from days to years, and on occasion could endure for decades. In
many instances the landlord was also a long-term leaseholder who sub-let all or part of
their holding. Many urban dwellers were therefore simultaneously both a tenant, paying
rent to a head landlord, and a landlord collecting rent from their tenants. These rental
agreements could relate to an entire house, including the family reception and living quar-
ters, business offices and servants’ quarters, as well as a garden, stabling and facilities
for horses and carriages, and in many instances on-site workshops, malt houses and fac-
tories. Tenancy, rental and lodging agreements that extended to only a single floor or
room, or for access to a shared bed within a room were also common. Hogarth’s 1736
engraving The Distressed Poet presents an enduring contemporary image of the cramped,
one-room garret accommodation that was the norm for many in the eighteenth-century
urban environment.® Being a long-term tenant was therefore an unexceptional experience
in this period, even for members of the upper echelons of society. In Dublin it was stan-
dard practice for the rural gentry and for non-Dublin-based members of parliament to
rent houses, either furnished or unfurnished, for up to six months during the biannual par-
liamentary season. There was also considerable churn in this market as urban renters and
tenants moved frequently. For example, Jonathan Swift moved from one London lodging
to another in 1710-13 in search either of a better price, a more convenient location, su-
perior facilities, or, on occasion, simply to find a more accommodating landlady.” The
Bolton/Echlin house is an example of one such long-term tenancy, as it endured from
about 1741 to at least 1756.8

2 — Bishop’s palace, Cashel, 3 — Cashel cathedral chapter opposite 4 — Charles Brooking,
Co Tipperary (1732), designed house designed by William ‘A prospect of the City of

by Edward Lovett Pearce for Tinsley, home of the Bolton Dublin from the North’ (1728)
Archbishop Bolton Library since 1836 detail from A MAP OF THE CITY AND

(© National Library of Ireland / (photo: Alamy) SUBURBS OF DUBLIN

Lawrence Collection, 1865) (© Royal Irish Academy)

THE PALACE CASHEL.CO,TIPPERARY.TADE w4
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HOUSE REFURBISHMENT IN MID-EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY DUBLIN

It is not clear when Archbishop Bolton acquired an interest in the Queen Street
property. He had held several ecclesiastical appointments in Dublin before being ap-
pointed Bishop of Clonfert and Kilmacduagh in 1722 and, two years later, Bishop of
Elphin. In 1730 he was translated to the archbishopric of Cashel, which he held until his
death. There he built a new palace designed by Edward Lovett Pearce (Plate 2), and on
his death bequeathed his enormous collection of 8,000 volumes for the use of the diocese
(Plate 3) .° Besides his palace and the Queen Street house, he also had a dwelling on St
Stephen’s Green, where he died in January 1744.'9 Bolton was therefore an experienced
operator in the property world of early eighteenth-century Ireland.

The tenant, Sir Robert Echlin, 2nd Baronet, was the son of Robert Echlin, MP for
Downpatrick, 1692-93, and Newry, 1695-1706. In 1729 Sir Robert and his wife Elizabeth
Bellingham settled in Kenure House in Rush, adjacent to other property he owned there,
and in Balrothery, county Dublin.!" He was a typical man of business of the ascendancy
class. In 1738 he was one of the subscribers for the building of the new theatre in Smock
Alley, along with other notables such as James Grattan and Dr Richard Helsham.!?
Although Rush was but seventeen miles from Dublin, a residence in the city might have
been considered necessary, and this may have prompted his initial negotiations with
Archbishop Bolton for the Queen Street house in 1741.

With so many buildings subject to tenancies of varying duration, it could be far
from clear as to who was responsible for ongoing maintenance and for conserving the
fabric of the building. In general, for lengthy tenancies the tenant was responsible for
maintenance, while for shorter lettings the landlord undertook such works. Not surpris-
ingly, the incentive for the leaseholder to engage in expensive maintenance and refur-
bishment diminished as the termination date of the lease approached.!* The need to
refurbish houses to make them attractive for the rental market was a staple of contempo-
rary rental advertisements. In 1755 Adam Fitz-Adam noted how ‘I have observed that
many of the sagacious landlords of this great metropolis who let lodgings, do at the be-
ginning of the winter, new vamp, paint and stucco the fronts of their houses, in order to
catch the eyes of passengers, and engage lodgers.’ !4
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5 — Charles Brooking,
A MAP OF THE CITY AND SUBURBS

OF DUBLIN, 1728
(© Royal Irish Academy)

6 — Francis Place (1647-1728),
DUBLIN FROM THE WOODEN

BRIDGE (1690s)
(© National Gallery of Ireland)

This complex, pervasive, and, on occasion, decades-long interaction between
urban landlords and their tenants remains a largely under-explored topic in both Irish and
British urban history.'> Issues to be researched include the link between the rental market
and economic cycles, the details of rebates or rent reductions that would apply after im-
provement or maintenance expenditure, and the application of restrictive covenants on
refurbishment, usage and sub-letting. This relative lacuna is in contrast with the extensive
studies devoted to the rural landlord-tenant relationship, as well as the issue of nine-
teenth-century urban housing conditions in Ireland.!® Though the country house has been
well studied, the number of such houses pales in comparison to the thousands of more
modest owner-occupied or rented town houses that were built in Dublin and in other Irish
cities and towns over the course of the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.!” A pe-
rusal of contemporary urban visual panoramas, such as the Brookings’ Dublin map of
1728 (Plate 4) or the Francis Place drawings from the 1690s (Plate 6), and Van der
Hagen’s views of Waterford and Drogheda, show not just the well-known features of the
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HOUSE REFURBISHMENT IN MID-EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY DUBLIN

towers and spires of churches and civic buildings, but also the serried ranks of terraced,
narrow houses.

Based on William Baer’s assumptions for calculating the ratio of landlords and
tenants in London, there could have been about 4,000 landlords and some tens of thou-
sands of tenants, renters and lodgers at any one time in eighteenth-century Dublin.!® These
urban landlords would have included institutional landlords who oversaw extensive port-
folios of properties such as those of the King’s Hospital and Dublin Corporation. There
were also the large property developers who managed a complex and ever-changing port-
folio of land, building plots and leases of varying duration, such the Gardner, Fitzwilliam
and Pembroke estates. There would also have been numerous minor private landlords.
This later group included many widows, for whom property rental was a significant
source of their income and for whom such ownership was an important part of their fam-
ily’s intergenerational financial management strategies.'” Rental income would therefore
have been a significant component of the wider urban economy.? In the case of the
Bolton/Echlin house, the archbishop sought an annual rent of the not inconsiderable sum
of £75 per annum. This rental can be compared to the annual income of about £30 for
skilled tradesmen and only half that for unskilled labourers.?! In 1786 John Trusler, in
his London Adviser and Guide, observed that ‘a private house 24 feet in front, and about
seventy feet deep, two or three rooms on a floor, unfurnished, in the best streets, will let
from 100 guineas a-year to 150°.22 Dublin prices would have been somewhat lower. Short-
term rental agreements could be even more expensive. In 1725 Pole Cosby recorded that
his father rented a furnished house on Stephen’s Green for £50 for six months during the
parliamentary season.?

In the middle of the eighteenth-century, Dublin was by far the largest urban conur-
bation in Ireland. The city patriciate frequently and proudly declared their city to be sec-
ond only to London within the Hanoverian empire.>* However, the expansion of Dublin
over the course of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries was fitful, and dependent on
economic cycles. At its height it would have involved the construction of, at most, some
couple of hundred new houses each year.> This level of construction activity could not
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have provided sufficient work for the many hundreds of tradesmen, such as masons, car-
penters, bricklayers and plumbers, that worked in the city.? More likely, repairs and main-
tenance, besides updating, extending and adapting, kept tradesmen busy.

Bolton’s House on Queen Street was located in the Oxmantown and Smithfield
area of the city, north of the River Liffey. It had been originally conceived in the 1660s
as part of a new fashionable residential suburb (Plate 5). In the first half of the eighteenth-
century the street retained its position as a relatively high-status residential area, notwith-
standing the location of both cattle and hay markets in the adjacent Smithfield. The
residence there of notables such as Thomas Keightley, Lady Grandison, Colonel Allen,
Lady Middleton and Sir Thomas Taylour was sufficient to maintain its character. But
other residents of lower social classes, such as hatters and victuallers, were also recorded
there.?” Over time the elite status of the area was challenged by the development of more
fashionable districts elsewhere in the city.?® The combination of the Phoenix Park and the
military, hospital and penitentiary complexes to the immediate west and north of Queen
Street, and later industrial development in the area, eventually ensured that by the end of
the nineteenth century its status had declined to a point where it did not feature in the
five volumes of the Georgian Society Records that documented the fading and endangered
splendour of that era.?

Building work had commenced on Queen Street shortly after the allocation of plots
in the 1660s so it is possible that some of the buildings on its east side might have been
up to eighty years old when work was carried out on the Bolton/Echlin house in the 1740s.
The houses pictured in the Francis Place drawing would seem to vindicate this view,
where several large structures are clearly visible in the Queen Street area (Plate 6). In ad-
dition, the estimates for repair works indicate that parts of the roof had ‘decayed’ and that
all chimneys’ walls required attention. However, it is hard to be certain, as the pace of
urban development in Dublin was slow and fitful. For example, in the 1720s William
Hendrick signed building leases for the construction of new brick houses in nearby
Hendrick, Barrack and Queen streets.*® The Hendrick Street houses were almost certainly
newly built on vacant sites, but it is possible that the Queen Street leases might have been
for the replacement of existing buildings.’!

There is no direct evidence in the Bolton/Echlin papers to pinpoint the precise lo-
cation of the house owned by Archbishop Bolton. In 1740 the churchwardens of the parish
of St Paul noted that the paving in front of the ‘Ld A: B: of Cashell’ in Queen Street were
‘so very dirty that we couud not know whether the pavment is good or bad’.3? In March
1756 the churchwardens noted pavement damage on ‘Sr. Robt. Echlins Side’ in Hay
Market. The 1756 Rocque map of Dublin shows a large house facing onto the north side
of Hay Market, with two other buildings running up to the corner of the Queen Street
and Haymarket intersection (Plate 7).>* In 1740, when the house was advertised for sale
or rent, it contained ‘2 great and 3 lesser rooms on each floor, [a] great staircase and two
pair back stairs, stables for 10 horses and a large garden’.3

The negotiations for Sir Robert Echlin to rent the house began at least as far back
as August 1741, when Henry Osborne, acting as the negotiator for the archbishop, was
in correspondence with Sir Robert. Between 1738 and 1740 Osborne was in frequent cor-
respondence with the archbishop in respect of book sales and other purchases.*> Osborne
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7 — John Rocque, EXACT SURVEY OF THE CITY AND SUBURBS OF DUBLIN, 1756
detail showing Oxmantown and Smithfield, with Bolton’s house at the junction of Queen Street and Haymarket
(© Royal Irish Academy)

may have been related to Bolton through his wife, Ann Osborne. He is likely to be the
Henry Osborne who, in 1718, was involved in the assignment of a sizeable mortgage for
£1,210 with Archbishop William King, Samuel Dopping and others for land in Tyrone
where he was described as an esquire with an address in Dardistown, county Meath.3¢ In
negotiating with Echlin, Bolton refused anything less than £75 per annum for the Queen
Street premises. This large sum suggests that the entire building, outhouses, stables and
garden was to be rented. These negotiations were conducted at a time of exceptionally
severe weather conditions, which caused not only widespread death but also significant
migration to towns and cities.?” But what impact this influx had on Dublin property prices
and houses such as Bolton’s is uncertain, given that most of the demand would have been
for humbler accommodation.’
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HOUSE REFURBISHMENT IN MID-EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY DUBLIN

HE DETAILS OF THE FINAL RENTAL AGREEMENT DO NOT SURVIVE. HOWEVER, IT SEEMS

that Bolton had agreed to carry out extensive repairs to the house amounting to

£67 19s (Plate 8). The estimate was prepared by a Dublin carpenter, Michael Dunn
who appears to have been acting as the lead contractor. Carpenters, and, to a lesser extent,
bricklayers, were often the main building entrepreneurs and contractors in eighteenth-
century Dublin.* Dunn was prominent in his trade, having been made a freeman of the
city in 1734, and later represented the Carpenter’s Guild on its common council from
1753 to 1756.% His estimate recorded fourteen separate items of work, including 70
square yards of slate pointing, 16 square yards of new deal floor covering, 190 feet of
water trunking, 62 feet of new sash windows and ‘about 1,940 yards of Painting’. While
some of the proposed works are described and costed in detail, others had been calculated
‘as nigh as I can Compute’, while another had the proviso that the cost ‘may come to’.
Allowance was made for the reuse of ‘such of the ould Flooring boards as are not much
decayed’, where it was proposed that they would be ‘layed on the top of the Remaining
garret floor such as store and Lumber Rooms &c’. Likewise, the glazing estimate took
account of the reuse of the existing glass.

The estimate and the various tradesmen’s bills do not provide a clear picture of
the number of rooms or the layout of the house, though at least twenty separate spaces,
including a large bedchamber, dining room, garrets, storerooms, pantry, halls and offices
are referred to. Tantalisingly, there are references to ‘the India papered room’ and a ‘red
room’. (In this period, Chinese wallpapers were usually described as ‘India papers’ be-
cause of their association with the East India Company.)*' The letter of March 1741 ref-
erenced fixed household goods to the value of £200, which included presses, marble
chimney pieces, window seats and fire grates, and some furniture and paintings. Recent
research has indicted that the speculative builders who built most of the eighteenth-cen-
tury town houses used a relatively limited palette of layout typologies. However, this
building was built in an earlier period where rooms and their layout were less standard.*?

While Michael Dunn may have been the major contractor, it appears that project
and financial management was provided by Edward Mathews. Little is known of
Mathews, except that he is likely to have been resident at Abbey Street and had property
interests in Drumcondra.** He is mentioned on most of the tradesmen’s bills, and was re-
sponsible for making most of the interim payments when the repairs to the house were
completed in 1746. In all, £111 18s 8d had been expended on the works (Plate 9), which
represented an increase of sixty-five per cent on the original estimate (Table 1). Bills from
the carpenter, glazier, bricklayer, painter, slater, stonecutter, smith, plumber and ‘nayler’
were itemised. Paying these tradesmen varied. Three months after they had been itemised,
Mathews paid off the outstanding bills. In autumn 1746, Dunn had made interim payments
to the carpenter, bricklayer, painter and slater, constituting eighty-five per cent of the total
cost. The advances paid to the individual tradesmen ranged from a high of sixty-six per
cent for the carpenter to a low of seventeen per cent for the painter. Granting extended
credit to customers was a universal feature of the eighteenth-century commercial world.**
The papers give no indication of the method of payment. It is likely that, notwithstanding

8 — Estimate prepared by Michael Dunn dated 12th March 1745 for repairs totalling £67 19s
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9 — Final list of bills of 27th March 1747 prepared by Edward Mathews, totalling £111 18s 8d

opposite Table 1 — Details of the content of the Bolton/Echlin papers
Note: the carpenter’s bill for £31 12s 6%d, which included the substantial interim payment of £20 19s 9% d, is not among
the Bolton/Echlin papers (source: Irish Architectural Archive 2022/85 Bolton/Echlin 1746/7)
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B/EO1

B/E02

B/E03

B/E04

B/E0S

B/E06

B/E07

B/E0O8

B/E09

B/E10

B/E1l

B/E12

HOUSE REFURBISHMENT IN MID-EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY DUBLIN

document individual % of total  interim % of
description tradesmen’s contract payment
bills price £sd
£sd bills
Copy of a letter
from Archbishop
Bolton to Sir
Robert Echlin
Pre-project estimate
prepared by
Michael Dunn
Tradesmen’s bills
for work done at
the house on Queen
Street, tenanted by
Sir Robert Echlin
Glazier’s bill 779 7
Bricklayer’ s bill 15192 14 5165% 36
Painter’s bill 33133 30 5139 17
Slater’s bill 14194 13 500 33
Slater’s receipt 14194
Stonecutter’s bill 2174 3
Smith’s bill 245% 2
Plumber’s bill 1210 1
Nailer’s bill 220 2

47

individual
tradesmen’s

details

Puttying at varying
rates per ft (mainly 6d),
+ charges for removing
and replacing glass

Daily rate of 2s for the
bricklayer and 1s for
the labourer and direct
charges for materials

Charged at 3d per ft for
internal rooms and
varying rates per ft for
external work, plus a
charge for ‘cleaning the
place’. Measured by
Laurence Purfield.

Priced at 2s 4d per ft
for existing fabric; 12s
and 17s per ft for new
work. Measured by
Laurence Purfield.

Signed by John Mc
Loughlin and Thomas
Holland (his mark)

Priced per ft at varying
rates depending on the
quality of the materials

Price specified for
several pieces of work

Price specified for
several pieces of work

Detailed list of prices by
type of nail supplied
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10 — Glazier's bill of 27th August 1746 for £7 7s 9d submitted by William Barlow
opposite 11 — Slater’s bill of 7th March 1746 for £14 19s 4d submitted by Thomas Holland
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the severe shortage of coin in this period, the smaller sums were paid in cash while the
larger amounts may have been paid by a bill.* The use of financial managers to manage
disbursements was a standard practice at the time.*®

The glazier’s bill was submitted by William Barlow, although an Evan Neale is
recorded as having carried out the work (Plate 10). Barlow seems to have been of a hum-
ble background, occupying rooms in Mary Street in 1737 and of a closet shared with
other tenants of the Pied Horse Inn.*” The bill amounted to the modest sum of £7 7s 9d.
This total was made up of puttying work for thirty-six windows, of which a total of ‘446
feet 7 inches in 31 windows Puttyed on ye outside and Inside at 2d pf’ and ‘70 feet 5
inches in 5 windows Puttyed on ye outside only’ which totalled £4 3'2d. The remaining
£3 7s 5'%d was for other work, such as removing existing glass and inserting new panes.
The bill included removing seventeen old sash squares for inserting into new frames. The
bill listed glazing work in a dining room, great staircase, bedchamber, drawing room,
passage over hall, kitchen, servants’ hall and bog house. Barlow’s bill was dated 27th
August 1746, which had been paid by 27th June 1747.

The core of the bricklayer John Plummer’s bill was for fifty-nine days of bricklaying
at two shillings per day, and fifty-one days of labourer’s time at one shilling per day (Plate
12). He charged a further £2 6s for ‘my one [sic] attendance and care 5 weeks’. This last
charge implies a daily rate of only 1s 7d per day, suggesting that his superintendence was
part-time. The remainder of the bill consisted of direct charges for lime, bricks (priced at
fifteen shillings per 1,000), scaffolding and some repairs to ‘grates’.*® Plummer received
an interim payment of £5 15s 5%d from Dunn, and acknowledged receipt of the outstand-
ing balance on 27th June 1747. The quantity of bricks at only 2,500 is consistent with the
initial estimate for repairs to the chimney and other limited work, although this amounted
to an average of just forty-two bricks laid per day. Plummer resided at Boot Lane, a short
walk east of Smithfield # Like most of the tradesmen involved in the works, he was not a
freeman of the city. He died in 1748, a short obituary appearing in Faulkner’s Dublin
Journal calling him ‘an eminent bricklayer and undertaker of building’.>

James Barry’s bill of £33 13s 3d, amounting to thirty per cent of the total cost, was
for painting an area of 1,839 yards 4 feet at 3d per foot. Seventeen rooms were painted,
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13 — Stonecutter’s bill of 8th
September 1746 for £2 17s 4d
submitted by Henry Darley

opposite

12 — Bricklayer’s bill of
September 1746 for £15 19s 8d
submitted by John Plummer

including the ‘Common hall & settle’, several parlours and their closets, a ‘tapestry room’,
and what was termed the ‘great stairs & Lobby’. The internal painting came to £23, while
the remainder was for painting windows, cornices, joists, ironwork and gutters. The bill
noted that the total area did not include ‘the back of the Pictures ... in the red room’, nor
behind ‘hangings’. All had been carefully calculated by the measurer, Laurence Purfield,
who was possibly a brother of the better-known William Purfield, who was also as a mea-
surer and surveyor from the 1750s to the 1790s.5! Barry’s bill also included three days
for ‘cleaning ye place’, work done by a labourer.

The slater’s bill, submitted by Thomas Holland, totalled £14 19s 4d (Plate 11).
This was costed by the square yard, and most was described as pointing. Specific areas
mentioned included ‘2 large parlours, Inner hall, Great stairs ... the frontpiece & brick
Cornice at the front to the building’. There were also references to a shed, a coal hole
and a hen house. The slating work was priced at different rates. The pointing was priced
as 2s 4d per foot, whereas what was described as ‘new work’ and ‘new stuff on the cole
hole’ was priced at the much higher rates of 12s and 17s per foot respectively. The mea-
surements were again confirmed by Purfield. Holland received an interim payment of £5,
acknowledging it with his mark, indicating that he was illiterate. Perhaps it was for this
reason that it was countersigned by a John McLoughlin. Another bill from William
Barrett, a blacksmith on Pill Lane a short walk from Queen Street, amounting to £2 2s,
detailed nails supplied between 16th July and 29th August 1746.

Henry Darley, the stonecutter, submitted his bill of a very modest £2 17s 4d on
8th September 1746, which was paid on 27th June 1747 (Plate 13). He was then twenty-
five years old, the son of Moses Darley, also a stonemason. He was made a freeman of
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the corporation at around the same time as he was working on the building, suggesting
that it may have been among one of his first independent commissions after his appren-
ticeship. Two of his sons, John and Frederick, were to become important figures in the
Irish building, stonecutting and architectural world into the nineteenth century. Darley’s
bill specified work on a chimney, a step and eight yards of ‘Mt Melick flagging’. Darley’s
bill pales into insignificance compared to the £4,402 6s 5% d he was paid for work on
the new Lying-in Hospital a decade later.>> Simon Smith, the blacksmith, charged £2 4s
5%d, which offset 2s 2d for disposal of some reusable materials. The bill was dated July
and September 1746, and was acknowledged as paid in June 1747.

Shortly after the works had been completed, Sir Robert Echlin decided to dispose
of his interest in the house. In January 1748 Alexander Hamilton of Henry Street, who
seems to have been acting on Echlin’s instructions, advertised the sale or letting of the re-
maining duration of Echlin’s lease.”* It may be that Echlin wished to profit from a better
sub-lease on the back of the repairs to the building, or simply gave up the idea of using
the house. It is not clear if the house was successfully let, for it was still referred to as Sir
Robert’s house in parish vestry books until the mid-1750s. But it demonstrates the com-
plexity of the Dublin leasehold market and the potential for the quick exchange of property.

Arthur Gibney identified three types of building contract: those that paid each trade
separately for quantities based on measures, a second that agreed a fixed sum for works
to be done, and another that paid by the day.>* The Bolton/Echlin works has features of
both the measured and the daily contracts. The advantage of the measured contract was
that both client and tradesman were aware of costs. In a period of relative price stability,
this form enshrined measurement standards and, as highlighted by Arthur Gibney, an ac-
cepted profit margin for the tradesman. Quantifications were facilitated by builders’ and
measurers’ manuals, including William Hawney’s The Complete Measurer, which went
through more than twenty editions, of which five were printed in Dublin. Towards the
end of the century, Levi Hodgson’s The Complete Measurer and The Modern Measurer
purported to explain the specifically Irish features of this business.>

In 2019 Erika Hanna and Richard Butler argued that modern Irish history is truly
an urban story.>* Much of this story can, however, be traced to an earlier period, particu-
larly the eighteenth century, when building practices and tenancy arrangements were
evolving quickly.”” This study points to the complexity of pre-letting negotiations with
prospective long-term tenants, demonstrating how pre-contract estimates for proposed
work were prepared, how the tradesmen’s bills were collated following endorsement from
a professional measurer, how interim payments were organised, and how the tradesmen
were ultimately paid on the completion of the project. The Bolton/Echlin papers also
record how building materials were reused and sold over the course of such works. This
study confirms that the measurement practices described in contemporary building in-
dustry manuals were accepted both by clients and by their tradesmen. It shows that mid-
eighteenth-century Dublin was a complex business world, where a cadre of (for the most
part) literate, competent and sophisticated practitioners deployed a set of well-understood
business and technical practices, which in this case has left an intriguing document trail,
even for a relatively modest set of repairs.
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